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PRELIMINARY MEMO

Summer List 7, Sheet 2

Mo, 75-1782

AFW FABRIC CORP. ::: CA 2
{Hays, Smith, con: Mesakill)

Va
v
MARSHALL Federal /Civil Timely
1
1. SUMMARY: This is the case related to No. 75-1660 and 75-1753

on this list, Please read that memo first. The issues and arguments are the

same. The difference is that in this case the DC denied a motion for a preliminary

injunction to enjoin a merger to be effected under N, Y, 's long form merger statute.

CA 2 rev'd holding that the injunction should issue, CA Z summarized its holding
T ™ e

as follows:

"We hold that when controlling stockholders and
directors of a publicly-held corporation cause it
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to expend corporate funds to force elimination
of minority stockholders' equity participation
for reazons not benefiting the corporation but
rather serving only the interests of the
controlling stockholders such conduct will be
enjoined pursuant to Section 10(b} and

Rule 10b-5 which prohibits "any act, practice,
or course of business which operates or would
operate as a fraud*#* in connection with the
purchase or sale of any security."

CA 2 also said,

|

"In the present case the 'merger' itself constitutes
a fraudulent scheme because it represents an
attempt by the majority stockholders to utilize
corporate funds for strictly personal benefit.
Under these circumstances it would gurely be
anomalous to hold that a cause of action is
stated under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 when the
fraudulent conduct in connection with a purchase
or sale of securities includes deception but that
similarly fraudulent practices carried out with
prior disclosure to the helpless victim de not
give rise to a Rule 10b-5 claim."

zz

In this case the corporations involved were Concord, which had been

closely held and went public in 1968 when its stock was high, and AFW which had

been formed to effect a merger with Concord and b u? back the publicly held

stock when the price was low. Concord transferred its 68% of the stock in

Concord tc AFW. AFW made a tender offer of the remaining stock publicly

held, explaining exactly what it intended to do, Under NY law, 68% of the voting

stock is enough to approve a merger, but, unlike the Del. short form merger,

k prior notice is necessary,

2, DISCUSSION: Since this case presents a long form, instead of a

— aa—

short form merger, it would complement No. 75-1753.

-

There is a response,

T/23/76
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Kovacic CA and DC ops in pein
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Summer List 7, Sheet 2
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See Preliminary Memo in No. 75-1660.
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Justice Powell-- (l‘""q mm‘&"x" f Mm,fdwﬁﬁi
This is a brief memo on AFW, No. 75- 2 (the lo form merzer I

L g
case), which has been relisted for the 10/8 conference :
. /4415&5«4-"-9 teiv tn i
The Court has already granted cert in No. "75-1753, Santa Fe, , 77/,

which raises the same 10-b-5 question as the instant ly in
i q 5 =] Ccase on jf' Aﬂ

W

the context of a short form merger. There are presently three votes
b . s
f:i

’F:‘i:tﬂ grant in _ﬁiﬁ-{: yourself, Justice Rehnquisrt, and Justice
”’;. Blackmun. You asked for a brief memo on whether to vote to hold "/”é—ﬂ :
the case for Santa Fe,

%%gg%; My first problem with the case 13 that I think

Justice Stevens 1s correct In his concluslon that the case is

moot, This case was an appeal to CA2 from the DC's denizl of

CRY

a preliminary injunction to enjoin a long form merger. EZ
reversed, l-lmlding that the injunction should issue. 5o the case Pa-l-b.u:u.
would be here on!pert from a decision of CAZ to grant a preliminary“? :
1njunctinn,1\0ne month after the announcement of the decision
of CA2 in the instant case, a permanent injunction was entered " e
against the challenged merger in state court. Respondent thus
contends that the case is now moot, Patrl suggesﬁ;that the respmden;}‘s
claim for damages remains '"viable" and constitutes a sufficient
basis upon which to reject the suggestion of mootness. But as
respondents points out, petrs will be liable in any event for the
unnecessary expenses to which they have pu-h—res'pmrd'errc-whiﬂ;;_
~they subj ected Concord; the monies they expended in furtherance of
a transaction which they have conceded to be wlthout business
purpose are r%verable by Concord whether or nmot petr's conduct
— violated the federal securities laws. Any other damages which petrs

have in wmind would surely have to await the outcome of a trial and

ang
are thusnEau speculative to present a live controversy.



My own view of the mootness 1ssue 1s that Justice Stewvens is

rigl;f:{.:. The case involves, at this stage, merely the MET'P

Wﬁ-&ﬂh@_ﬁ preliminary injunction, a question mooted
] bl _._.—-—"-'-'-._._

_—
by the entry of a perwanent injunction in state court.

SECOND: If you disagree on the mootness point, I still think
 — s )

thlis case 1s a grant rather than a-j hold. The only difference
between the long form merger case and the short form merger case

is that {as I'm sure you already know!) the long form merger

-

statutes require prior notice o8 to dissenting shareholders and

s

an opportunity to_;EEE premerger injunctive relief. CA2 regarded

the unavallability of this additional rewmedy in the short form
merger case (Santa EE) as "further justification for the intervention
of federal courts to remedy any fraudulent conduct." Thus, at

least from CA2's point of view, 1if the Court adiiiGeise Teverses

in Santa Fe, it should be clear that there is no~ ke 10-b-5
viclation in the long form merger situation, since there are the
added protections of notice and opportunity for premerger injunctive
relief, But if the Court concludes that there is something

to CA2's position in the short form merger situation, the question
remains whether the long form merger situation 1s different. To
some, that difference may be significant, For example, In his
concurring opinion in the Sante Fe & short form case, Judge
Mansfield noted that full aﬁce disclosure of all relevant facts
and the opportunity for premerger injunctive relief may be effective
protection.

In sum, it seems to me that the Court can't lose by taking

both cases, and it can be argued that it might be helpful to

decide in one action whether the long form/short form diffe%:%_‘/’



are important on this issue.
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ECc/// 1/18/77

TO: MR. JUSTICE POWELL
FROM: Gene Comey
RE: No. 75-1753--Santa Fe Industries v. Green

BOBTAIL BENCH MEMO

The Issue in this case 1s narrow but Lmportant: are
"short-form" mergers designed to "freeze-out'" minority shareholders
violative of section 10 and Rule 10b-5 even where there is full
disclosure of all material facts, [Both lower courts resolved
the issue on the assumption that there were néither misrepre-

sentations nor nondisclosures in the relevant information statement.

Although resp now suggests In its brief that there were misrep-

resentations and nondisclesures, this Court should treat this
as a "full and complete" disclosure case.] CA2 answered the
gquestion In the affirmative, suggesting that the "fraud" was
"inherent in the merger itself."

On a fair reading of CA2's opinion, the essential element

for a 10b-5 violation in these circumstances is the absence of
e S

a ''valid corporate purpose." The opinion also seems to rely on

two other facts: (1) the undervaluation--I should say "alleged
undervaluation'--of the Kirby stock; and (2) the lack of notice
or disclosure prior to the merger. But neither of these latter
two factors appears to have been determinative. 1In the first

place, CA2 reaffirmed Popkin v. Bishop, 464 F.2d 714 (CA2 1972),

which impliedly held that undervalusation standing alone does not



2 |

violate 10b-5. Moreover, I can't see the relevance of the lack
of prior disclosure, since CA2 had held only thirteen days before
Green that a '"long-form" merger designed to "freeze-out" minority
intarests-w%i:?fﬁftive of 10b-5. [We granted cert in the
long~form case, [vacated the judgment, and remanded for con-
sideration of mootness]. Finally, we have the statement from
Green itself: "If there is no valid corporate purpose for the
merger, then even the most brazen disclosure of that fact to

the minority shareholders in no way mitigates the fraudulent

conduct." Thus, the lack of a valid corporate purpose seems to
__‘..‘-‘—‘-—-—-‘--\_ﬂ—-———

be the key element for tH;_IDb-S violation.

The background for this holding needs to be highlighted,
As you know, some 38 states have enacted ''short-form merger"
statutes, thus evidencing a legislative judgment that a minority
shareholderts rightrtn continued ownership of the company must
be limited in order to facilitate mergers, and that“aperﬂ.isalﬁ

should be the exclusive remedy for corportate mismanagement 1in
e

this regard. To be sure, if the "information statement' supplied
to the minority shareholders contains false, inaccurate, or
deceptive information, a federal cause of action under Rule 10b-5
would be established.* But the issue here is whether in the
absence of such misrepresentations or nondisclosures such a

cause of action is established. In that regard, it is worth
noting that the decision of CA2 rests upon notion of the
"fiduciary duty" owed by majority stockholders to minority

stockholders. Common law fiduciary dufies have long been a
'\-_-—l"_'-l-u.._._,.r""l

j;_},yn 2g- Leviae v. j‘ﬁ_h_&_,a_ﬁ__cﬂ!;,, 383 F Sapp.

bt ¥ LS.DMC‘] ) ( 1979)



& matter of state law, and in the case of Delaware it is clear

that the state has taken the position that "fidumiary duties"
W

do not preclude short-form mergers.
e iy

The issue then 1s whether the federal statute precludes
such mergers where there is no valid corporate purpose. Resolution
of the 1issue must start, as you noted In Ernst and Ermst, with

the language of the statute. The basic problem is one of

determining congressional Intent. The mere fact that state law
does approve short form mergers is not controlling, since a
congressional decision to subject short-form mergers to federal
regulation would clearly pre-empt state legislation in the area,
There 1s nothing to the argument that €ongress could not as a
constitutional matter declare illegal short form mergers that
are accomplished without a valid corporate purpose. Whether
Congress in fact did so is an entirely different question.
As to the language of the statute and the language of the

Rule, I think the petitioners do a fairly good job of showing
that "any pﬂnipulative or deceptive deviece or contriwvance"

T

does not include a '"full disclosure" short-form merger. Such

a merger certainly is not "manipulative," as that term was
L I S

defined in Ernst: '"conduct that was designed to deceive or
defraud investors by controlling or artifically affecting the
price of securities." And here there certainly was no
decpetion. Unfortunately, as you noted in Ernst, there is not

a great deal of legislative history on section 10b, and thus



the legislative materlals are not of considerable help in
defriarng
the scope of the "federal fraud."
But the case law on 10b and 10b-5 is helpful. Though I
have obviously not read all the cases, a recent note in the

Harvard Law Review suggests--and I don't doubt its accuracy--

1A
that no appellate decision before Marshel (thﬂﬁlung ﬁgﬁm case

from CA2) and Green (the instant, short-form case) had permitted

a 10b-5 claim without some elemﬁk of misrepresentation or non-
[

diésclosure, Judge Moore's dissent examines some of the

-~
more prnmin.!ent cases, and he & also concludes that even a

cursory review of the decisions iIndicates that a 10b-5 claim

will not attagh in the absence of deception or misrepresentation.

See App. at 15Ba-163a. See also Superintendent of Ins. v.
Banker's Life, 404 U,5., 6, #l8 12: ''Congress by § 10b did

not seek to regulate transactions which constltute mo more than
internal corporate mismanagement."

Given the absence of any clear indication that Congress
intended to intrude into an esme area primarily governmed by
state law, and the subsequent cases of this Court and the lower
emmga courts Interpreting the scope of the "federal fraud"
cause of action under section 10b, I would hesitate before

T affirming the decision of CA2. In:ﬁead, the results of CA2's
dec on strongly suggest that the decision should be reversed,

;izziit;hJ“}ﬁxblhe first place, the decision apparently authorizes the

develfnment of a new fed?eral common law of fiduciary duty,

and thHus would relegate state regulation of corporate mismanagement
J:)t;\zasaas in @k which the mismanagement is accomplished apart



3.

from any securities @sm transaction, Second, both Bluye Chip

and Ernst and Ernst emphasized the M difficulty of conducting

business under the constant threat of indeterminate ilabiiity.
See 421 1,8, at 747-748, and 96 S8, Ct, at 1391. ﬁf;er this

decision you can no longer even rely on compliance with st@ te

-

statutory procedures. Third, the test suggested by CAZ--
.—-—-—-—--._,.r-u-____,_,..—-'q—l

valid corporate purpose--seems especlally hard to apply in this
context. On the one hand, the results of squeezing out the

at Jutke Meavdt notes

minority may be beneficialJ nd thus qualify as walid corporate
purposes. But, on the other hand, to the extent that it is
necessary to eliminate the meajority to accomplish those benefits,

there 15 an e "invalid" corporate purpose.

In the final analysis, it appears thet the gravamen of
this complaint 1is that the merger was "unfair." That may well
ba, but resolutlon of issues like that is for the states,
at least that is how I understnnld the federal regulatory scheme
up wntil this decision. In effect, the plaintiffs below would
have us read section 1l0b to prohibit "any manipulative or
deceptive or unfair device" If that is what Congress meant,
which 1 doubt, it should have said so. Fombeesesdesssatetg
A manipulati?e:;;%idECEptivE device may produce unfair results,

but not every procedure which produces allegedly unfair results

jf»wb.

iz manipulative and deceptive.
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December 27, 1976

No. 75-1753 Santa Fe Industries, Inc., et al. v.
S. William Green, et al.

This 1s the case in which CA 2 (Medinz for the
court; Mansfield, concurring; and Mcore dissenting) held,
in effect, that Rule 10b(5) preempts state corporate law with
respect to short form mergers. Moreover, CA 2 held, in effect,
that the "freeze-out'" of minority stockholders under the
Delaware short form merger law, requiring no prior notice and
no corporate purpose for the benefit of all shareholders,
constitutes a fraud (li.e. a manipulative or deceptive device)
under IDQ(S}. The holding of CA 2 is so sweeplng that, if
affimed,:wuuld create a substantial body of federal corporate
law displacing traditional state corporate law. Thirty-eight
of the fifty states have short form merger laws (which vary in
certain respects), but CA 2's opinion - at least its rationale -
is not limited to short form mergers.

In a rather unusual per curiam, CA 2 declined to

review the case en banc because they deemed it of "such extra-

ordinary importance that we are confident the Supreme Court"

R\
will grant certiorari.



Statement of the Case

A number of subsidiaries of the Santa Fe Rallway
Company are involved. But for purposes of understanding the
case, and indeed for declding it, we may assume the following:

A subsldiary of Santa Fe [a predecessor of Santa Fe Resources,
Inc. (Resources)], acquired 607% of the stock of Kirby Lumber
Corp. (Kirby) in 1936. Over succeeding years, Santa Fe subsid-
iaries, including Resources, made additional purchases of Kirby
stock. In 1967, pursuant to a tender offer at $65 per share,
the predecessor of Resources locreased its ownership of Kirby
to 95%. A few additional purchases were thereafter made
between 1968 and 1973 at prices ranging from $65 to $92.50 per
share.

In 1974, and for the purpose of acquiring 100% of the
Kirby stock, a short form merger under Delaware law was
accomplished between a new subsidiary of Resources (FPI Products,
Inc.) with Kirby. The merger plan provided for the payment of
8150 per share to the holders of the 25,324 minority shares
outstanding.

Section 253 of the Delaware Corporation Law, authorizing
short form mergers, does not require consent of, or advance
notice to, the minority stockholders. Notice of the merger is
required, however, to be given within 10 days after its effective
date, and dissatisfied stockholders are entitled to an appraisal
of their shares in the Delaware Court of Chancery.

Respondents do not deny that the merger was accomplished



strictly in accordance with Delaware law., Moreover, notice of
the merger was accompanied by a detalled "Information Statement"
that - in addition to other facts ~ included an opinion by
Morgan Stanley that the fair market value of the stock was

§125 per share (although the highest actual sale price in the

open market had been $92.50); an appraisal of Kirby's physical

assets, which - assuming liquidation on the basis of that
appralsal, and prior to taxes -reflected a value of about $700
per share; and also an appraisal of Kirby's oll and gas royalty
interests,

Despite Morgan Stanley's appraisal of market value at
$125 per share, dissenting stockholders were offered $150.

Respondents initially invoked their right of appraisal
under Delaware law, but later purported to withdraw their
demand for an appraisal and filed this sult in the federal
court alleging 10b(5) vinlations.if

Although respondents' brief (p. 26) now makes an un-

persuasive contention that there were misrepresentations and

nondisclosures in the information statement, the district court

—

stated categorically that there were no allegations in the

complaint of migstatements of fact or material omissions. (Petn.

254, 26A). Both courts below proceeded on the assumption that

there were no such allegations. b .
ot
The case was decided con aummi:;_;uiguuu:nmtinnl. The '

lﬂﬁ number of other stockholders are presently seeking
appraisal in proceedings now in progress in the Del. Ct. of Chancery.



DC's opinion summarizes plaintiff's allegations:

"pPlaintiffs' allegations have two distinet
aspects. Filrst, it 1s alleged that the means of
effectuating this merger operated as a fraud on
the minority shareholders gn that the merger was
consummated for the benefit of the majority
ghareholders, without any justifiable business
purpose, except to freeze out the minority, and
was effected without prior notice to the minority
shareholders. Second, plaintiffs allege that the
low valuation placed on their shares in the cash
exchange offer segment of the merger transaction
was in itself a fraud actionable under Rule 10b-5."

(Petn. 2la).

Opinion of DC

The DC granted the defendant's motion to dismiss for
2

failure to state a claim,” The DC emphasized that the case
involves a merger of Delaware corporations, and that under

Delaware law shareholders have no "vested right to remain

shareholders'"; minority shareholders may be "frozen out";
Delaware law does not require that the merger be effected for
a business purpose; and the "statute reflects the public policy

of Delaware with respect to the rights of splinter interests 1in

corporations”. In Stauffer v. Standard Brands, Inc., 187 A.2d 80, “

corporation with a means of eliminating the
minority stockholders' interest in the enter-
prise."

it was said: #1#~ﬁ/
1
"The very purpose of the Delaware short f,f”f/
form merger statufe 13 to provide the parent ﬂ;A*r1m’4)Lfr

The district court accepted, for purposes of 1lts decision,

2/
~ 1 was 1ln error in stating above that the case was
decided on a summary judgment motion.



regspondents' claim that thelr shares were worth $722 rather
than $150.§f The DC nevertheless found no cause of action
asserted under Rule 10b(5). It noted that respondents' claim
was based, not upon misstatements or the omission of material

facts, but upon information provided by the corporate defendants

themselves.

The DC continued as follows:

"The complaint demonstrates merely that the

parties to this action differ iIn their computation L

of the fair value of plaintiffd shares. Whatever
the information statement indicates about the Aair
value of plaintiffs' shares, the value of the
physical assets "was discernible, as plaintiff[s]
discerned it." Tanzar Economic Agsociates, Inc.

v. Haynie, 388

See afsn Spiegler v. Wills, 60 F,R.D. 681 (5.D.
N.Y. 19?3} Tﬁe adequacy of the offering price,
standing alone, does not demonstrate bad faith
or overreaching on the part of the controlling

interests. See Muschel v. Western Union Corpor-
ation, 310 A.2d 904 (Del.ch, 1973)." Petn at Z24a.
* * %

"It was for each shareholder to determine, on
the basis of the information provided, whether the
price offered was adequate or whether he should
seek a judicial appraisal. The lnstant complaint
fails to allege an omission, misstatement or
fraudulent course of conduct that would have
impeded a shareholder's ud ent of the value of

the offer. Cf. Levine v. ddle Sawyer Corp.,
383 F. Supp. BI8 (35.D.N.Y. Ig?ﬁjﬂ' Petn at 55 .

é'zThvau DC noted, however, that the use of '"liquidation

value of Kirby's physical assets as the sole basis for deter-
mining the true worth of shares owned by minority stockholders
is at least questionable'". (A view that I certainly share)




Opinion of CA 2

In a wide ranging opinion by Judge Medina (with some
of his characteristically colorful language denouncing corporate
manipulation), the majority opinion of CA 2 held that a cause
of action is alleged under Rule 10b(5) where '"a breach of

fiduciary duty" is charged, even in the absence of misrepresenta-

——

tion or nondisclosure:

—

"Our later review of the decisions of this Court
on the subject of allegations under Rule 10b(5)
of breaches of fiduciary duty by a majority
agalnat minority shareholders without any

charge of misrepresentation or lack of disclosure
will, we think, demonstrate that in such cases
misreprasentaticn or lack of disclosure are not

essential ingredients of the claim for relief
by the minorit But, lest there by any linger-
ing doubt on t is point, we now hold that in such ________,J
{ cases, including the one now before us,
allegation or proof of misre resentatlun ar
nondisclosure 1s necessary. etn at 36a.
F

e

CA 2 went on to hold that Delaware law was not controlling.
Although CA 2 referred to the federal remedy under the Securities
Exchange Act as "'supplementary to those provided by the States',
its holding actually would nullify Delaware law as declared by
the Delaware courts (summarized in the opinion of the DC).

CA 2, desplte Delaware law to the contrary, found a
federal "fiduciary duty to deal fairly with the minority" in a
merger, and seemed to hold that offering a price of $150 for
stock alleged to be worth $720 constitutes a fraud and breach
of fiduclary duty even where there was a full disclosure of all
relevant facts, and a remedy under Delaware law that was not

found to be inadequate.



Dissent of Judge Moore

Gt
Judge Moore, obviously in a state of some shock by his
4
Brothers' decisions, commenced his opinion:
"I strongly dissent from the use of their

powers by two judges of one of the eleven judicial

Circuits to override and nullify not only the

corporate laws of Delaware with respect to short-

form corporate mergers, but also, in effect,

comparable laws in an additional thirtv-seven

States."

Judge Moore states -- with a good deal of reason =-=-
that the majority opinion creates "an irrebutable presumption
that the use of the short form merger law amounts to a fraud Code.
per se' wherever a dissenting stockholders avers that the
price offered dissenters is grossly inadequate.

It seems to me that Judge Moore's opinion also lays
to rest the uncritical assumption by the majority that the
averment of '"'mo corporate purpose" must be accepted as correct.
Anyone familiar with corporate law 1s aware of the problems
and disadvantages that accrue to the majority stockholder where
a small minority interest is outstanding. Judge Moore summarized

some of the benefits of 100% ownership as follows:

"The short-form merger procedure permits a
corporation to retreat from the public marketplace
of securities trading and assume the status of a
private company. '"Going private'", as the process
has been popularly labeled, is beilng more and more
frequently resorted to in today's recession economy.
The benefits to a corporation are varied. Freedom
from worry about the impact of corporate decisions
on stock prices; abllity to take greater business
risks than those sanctioned by federal securities
agencies; a switch to more conservative accounting,
rasultin% in lower taxes; the savings which result
from no longer having to prepare, print and issue the
myriad of documents required under federal and state



disclosure laws; the removal of a pressure to

pay dividends at the expense of long-term

capital development or speculative capital
investment -- these are some of the advantages which
may enure to a corporation "going private'". It is
essential to underscore that all of the above-stated
advantages accrue from the very act of eliminati

the 10% shareholders who confer public status on

the corporation. TO say that such action 1s not a
"valld business reason' (plaintiffs' complaint) or

a "justifiable corporate purpose” (the majority
holding) is to completely misapprehend the impact

of the shift in status from publicly held corpora-
tion to private company. Benefit to the parent
company 1s not Incompatible with the notion of
"justifiable corporate purpose"; it 1s a legitimate
part of it. As one commentator has noted:

One selfish motivation 1s often
adverted to in connection with going
private, but one wonders why that
should be. Are only those corporate
transactions to be favored which are
not motivated by greed? Must we seek
to do public good in order to avoid
regulatory sanctions? The questions
answer themselves, To observe that
greed 1s a compelling motivation is
merely toobserve that we live in a free-
enterprise society.

It should be obvious that minority shareholders are
as simllarly motivated as the majority owners, and
1 that their concern is not the purported damage to
the public of "going private" transactions -- the
likelihood of which I seriously doubt =-- but rather,
the equally selfish desire to avoid taking a loss
while "playing the market'. Such a desire, I submit,
. 1s a wholly inadequate justification for according
“ji yto the 10% a veto power over the will of the 90%.
Even our political system does not require 1007 con-
sensus before the majorlty will may be implemented;
in fact, such a thought would be completely inimical
to the values inherent ln our democratic pgilnsaphy.
(Pet. at 82a)

Comments
With all respect, I think my friend Judge Medina's

oplnion is out of the "blue sky'". As I agree with the DC and



much of Judge Moore's dissent, I will undertake no extended
comment here.

As I said in my concurring opinion in Blue-Chip, the
starting point is the language of the statute. Also as I
noted in Ernst and Ernst, the language of § 10b -- not the
language of Rule 10b{(5) -~ 1s controlling. As the title of
§ 10b indicates, it is concerned with "manipulative and
deceptive devices'". I would not have thought, until CA 2's
opinion, that anyone would have deemed a merger to be such
a device solely because the price offered dissenters was
"grossly" below fair market value so long as there was no
misstatement or omission of & material fact. The purpose of
§ lﬂﬁ and Rule 10b(5) is to substitute full disclosure for
the doctrine of Caveat Emptor. Affiliated Ute, 406 U.5, 128,

151: Blue Chips Stamps, 421 U,S. at 744.

Nor would 1 have thought that § 10b was intended to
of
create a federal cammnnlawfcnrpnrations contrary to valid state

110

statutes.
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SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

 No, 75-1753

Santa Fe Industries, Ine, Tl 3/“9
i Ilﬂ?fmfia On Writ of Certiorari to the
| i Gl |

United States Court of Appeals

S, William Green et al. for the Beeoud Cireuit. & , Mll F

: 4
Mg, Justice WHiTe delivered the opinion of the Court,
The issue in this case involves the reach mul coverage of &t ’i _, ’

§10 (b} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834 and Rule M Uf
10b—5"* thereunder in the eontext of & Delaware shart-form

t Hoetion 10 of the Securities Exehange Act of 1934, 15 T, B. C. § 78j,

provides in relevant part: - ;
“Tt shall Be nolawiul for any person, directly or indireJ:ﬂ}', b the nse of :
any means or iostnomentality of interstate comunerce or of the maile, or of

any faeility of nny national seeunties exchange— P +
i
(b} To wr or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of wny e,vwf"
eeourity regietered on o national speuritice exchange or any seearity not .
so registered, Aoy manipulative or deceptive deviee or contrivatee in con- fi S
trgvention of suell miles snd regulotions ps the Commiksion may preseribe
s pecesary of approprate in the public imtereet or for the protection of -

investors "
Rule 10b-5. 17 CFR § 240, 10b-5, provides:

"Imployment of manipulative and deceptive devices. ‘

“It shall be unlawtul for any persen, directly or indirectly, by the uee of
any means or inetrementality of interstate contmeres, or of the maile or of
any facility of Aoy nutions] securities exchango, A

“{a) To employ any deviee, scheme, or artifice to defraud,

"{H) To owke any untrue statement of & muterial fuct or to omit to
state o material fact neeessary in order to make the stotement= mado, in the
light of the vireumstances under which they were. maile, _rllml mislending, ar

“{v) To engage in ang act, practice, or courve of businese which operaten
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merger trancaction used by the majority stockholder of a
corproration to eliminate the minority interest,

I

In 1936 petitioner Santa Fe Industries, Inc. (“Santa Fe")
. acquired control of 60% of the stock of Kirby Lumber Cor-
poration (“Kirby"}, a Delaware ecorporation. Through a
series of purchases over the succeeding years, Santa Fe in-
creased it eontrol of Kirby's stock to 95%; the purchase
prices during the period 1968-1673 ranged from 365 to §92.50
per share® In 1974, wishing to aequire 100% ownership of
Kirby, Santa Fe availed itself of § 253 of the Delaware Cor-
poration Law, known as the “short form merger” statute.
Seetion 253 permits a parent corporation owning at least 80%
of the stock of a subsidiary to merge with that subsidiary,
upon approval by the parent’s board of directors, and to make
payment in cash for the shares of the minority stockholders.
The statute does not require the consent of, or advance potice
to, the minority stockholders, However, notice of the merger
muzt be given within 10 days after its effective date, and any
stockholder who is dissatisfied with the terms of the merger
may petition the Delaware Court of Chancery for a deecree
ordering the surviving corporation to pay him the fair value
of his shares, as determined by a court-appointed appraiser
subjeet to review by the opurt. ' Del. Gen, Corp. Law §§ 2543
(), 262, ‘

Santa Fe obtained independent appraisals of the physical
assets of Kirby—Iland, timber, buildings, and maehinery—
gnd of Kirby's oil, gas, and mineral interests, Those apprais-
als. together with other financial information, were subinitted

or woitld operate a= a frand or deceit vpon any FE'TEIJTIJ i eennection with
the purchnse or sale of any security.”

Appendix 332 (merger information statement, econsidered by parties
st court below aw part of the amended complaint), Hadte Fo contralled
Kirhy through its wholly owaed subsidiary, Banty Fe Nuturul Resournes,
which ewned thE Kirhy stock
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to Morgan Btanley & Company (“Morgan Stanley”), an in-
vestmient batking firin retained to appraise the fair market
volue of Kirhy stock, Kirby's physical assets were appraised
at $320 million {amounting to $640 for eaeh of the 300,000
chares) ; Kirby's stock was valued by Morgan Stanley at $125
per share, Under the terms of the merger, minority - stock-
holders were offered $130 per share.

The provisions of the short-form merger statute were fully
complied with." The minority stockholders of Kirby were
notified the day after the merger became effective and werc
advised of their right te otbain an appraisal in Délaware
court if disestiefied with the offer of §150 per share, They
alsa tecetved an information statewent containing, in addi-
tion to the relevant financial data about Kirby, the appraisals
of the value of Kirby's assots and the Morgan Stanley ap-
praisal eonchuding that the fair market value of thr' stock was
$125 per share.

Respondents, mufu:n'lt:',r stockholders of K:rb:-.r objected to
the terms of the merger, but did not file a petition in the Del-
aware Court of Chancery.* Instead. they hrought this action
in federal court on behalf of the eorporation and other minor-
ity stockholders, seeking to set aside the merger or to recover
what they elaimed to be the fair value of their shares, The
amended complaint asserted that based on the fair market

i The merger berame oifective on July 31, 1974, and was accomplished
in' the following way. A now corporation. Forest Produers, Ine, waos
orgupized zd o Deluware corporation, The Kirby stock, together with eash,
was (ransferred from Samts Fe's wholly owned subsidiary (see n. 2. supra)
to Forest Produets in exchange for all of the Forest Products stock.  The
new corporation was then werged o Kithy, with Kirhy as the surviving
ctrporation, The eash trapsferred 1o Forest Produets wus used to make
the purchase offer for the Kirby shares oof owned! by, the Suntu Fe
snbeidiary,

A 0n iug'uut 21, 1974, respendents petitioned for an appraisal of their
K:rln stock, but they withdrew that petition oo Sepfember 9 und the next
duy c{;:mmenmﬂ this lawsuit. J
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value of Kirby's physical assets as revealed by the pppraisal
ineluded in the Information Stateinent sent to minhority share-
holders, Kirby's stock was worth at least $772 per share.
The compaint alleged further that the merger took place
without prior notice to minority stockholders; that the pur-
pose of the merger was to appropriate the difference between
-the “conceded pro rata of value of the physioal assets” and
the $130 per share offered—to “freez[e] out the minority
stockholders at a wholly inadequate price,” app, 103a, 1004;
and that Santa Fe, knowing the appraised value of the phyzi-
eal asseta, obtained s ‘‘fraudulent appraisal” of the stock
from Morgan Stanley and offered $25 nbove that appraizal “in
otder to lull the minority stockholders into erronecously be.
lieving that [Santa Fe was] generous." App. 103a, This
course of conduct was alleged to be “a violation of Rule 10b-5
becanse defendants employed a ‘device, scheme or artifien to
defrand’ and engaged in an ‘aet, practice ar course of huziness
which operates or would operate gs & fraud or deceit upon
any pergon, in connection with the purchase or'sale of any
Cmecurity. " Mad® Morgan Stanley assertedly participatod
in the fraud as an aecessory by submitting ite appraisal of

©The figure of $772 per share was calevlited a5 follows;
“The difference of $311,000000 (86822 per whare) Lerween the fuir marke
value of Kirby's land and timber, slooe, gg per the defendanis’ omnm oap-
pruital ‘thereof nt $320,000 000 and the $9,000,000 book value of aid land
aned timber, added to the 5180 per share, vields a pro rutp share of the
vilue of the phyeical sssere of Kirby of ar least 3772 per shuee. The
vaton of the atock was at legst the pro mts valoe of the physieal asiete”
App. 1082z, , -

© Thre complaint alio alleged & broech of fidueiary duty ander state lnw
and asserted that the federn] court hod both diversity und peodant
jurisdiction over this elaim, The Dhetrict Court found an shsenee of
eomplete diversity of eitizenship between the plaintiffs, aod defendants
Breauer of the defendant Morgan Stanleny and refused g exervise pendant
Juriedietion beenuse it leld thut the complaint failed to state o elsim uoder.
the frdopal speyrities lawa. 391 F, Bupp, at 855,
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$125 per share although knowing the appraised value of the
phymeel assets.
~ The District Court dismissed the ecomplaint for failure to
state s elaim upon which relief eould be granted, 301 F.
Supp. 840 (SDNY 1875), As the District Court understood
the ecomplaint, respondents’ case rested on two distinet
grounds, First, the federal law was assertedly violated be-
cause the merger was for the sole purpose of eliminating the
minority from the company and therefore lacked any justifi-
able business purpose and because the merger was undertaken
without, prior notice to the minority shareholders, Becond.
the-low valuation placed on the shares in the cash exchange
offer was itself said to be a fraud aetionable under Rule
© 10b-5. In rejecting the first ground for recovery, the Dis-
trict Court observed that Delaware law required neither &
husiness purpose for a short-form merger nor prior notiee to
the wminority shareholders. whorg) the statute eontemplated |
would be removed from the company, and that Rule 106-5
did not override these provisions of state corporate law by
independently placing s duty on the majority not to merge
without prior notice and without a justifiable business purpose.
" Ag for the claim that actionable fraud inhered in the alleg-
edly gross undervaluation of the minority shares, the District
Court observed that respondents valued their shares at a
minimum of $772 per shere based “on the pro rata value of
Kirby's physical assets,” [d,, at 853. Accepting this valua-
tion for purposes of the motion to dismiss, the District Court
further noted that, as revealed by the complaint, the physical
asget appraisal. along with other information relevant to
Morgan Sianley's valuation of the shares, had been included
with the Information Statement sent to respondents within
the time required by state law. It reasoned that if “full and
fair disclogure iz made, transactions elininating a minority
interest are beyond the purview of Rule 10b-5" and con-
cluded that “the complaint fail[ed] to allege an omission,
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misstatement or fraudulent course of conduct that would have
impeded a' shareholder's judgment of the value of the offer.”
Id., at 854. The complaint therefore failed to state a claim
and was dismissed.’

A divided Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit reverued
533 F. 2d 1283 (1976). Tt first agreed that there was a
double aspect to the case: first, the claim that gross under-
valuation of the ininority stock iteelf violated Rule 10b-5;
and second, that "without any misrepresentation or failure to
disclose relevant facts, the merger constituted a violation of
Rule 10b-5" becuase it was aecomplished without any cor-
porate business purpose and without prior notice to the
minority stockholders, Id,, at 1285, As to the first aspect
of the case, the Court of Appeals did not disturb the Distriet
Court's conclusion that the complaint did not allege a mate-
rial misrepresentation or nondisclosure with respect to the
- value ‘of the stock ; and the court declined to rule that a gross
tndervaluation iteelf would suffice to make out ! Rule 10b-5
case, ' With respect to the second aspect of the case, however,
the eourt fundamentally disagrecd with the Distriet Court s
‘to the reach and coverage of Rule 10b-5. The Court of
Appeals' view was that, although the Rule plaml:,r reached
material misrepresentations. and nondisclosures 1 in eonnection
' with the purehase or sale of securities, neither misrepresenta-
tiow or nondisclosure was a necessary element of a Rule 10b-5
- action; the rule reached “breaches of fiduciary duty by a

1

" The Dietriet Coust slso based itz holding on' the altarpative ground
that the injuries alleged in the complant were oot causally related to any
deception by the majority sharebolder.

"Arsiming arguendo thut the merger mfnrm.lrhan statement did not
oonetitnte adeguute disclosre, the amended compluint does not demon-
strute o causal connection between the alleged deception und pluintiffs’
damngre.  Plaintiffs did not tender’ their shares for cancellation and pay-
ment parsuant to this merger plan, . . . From the outeet, plaintiffs
reeogniged the alleged deception and did not rely up-un jt." 391 F. Bupp,,
nt 85§,

a1}
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g jority: againgt, minority shareholders without any charge of
mhsieprescniation or lack of disclosure.”  Jd,, at 1287.F " The
tirurt went on to lwold that the complaint taken ss 4 whole
stated o cause of action under the Rule:

“We hold that a complaint alleges a claim under Ruht
-3 when it charges, in eonnection with o Delaware
short form merger, ‘that; the majority has committed a
hreach of ita fiduciary duty to deal fairly with minority
shareholders by effecting the merger without any insti=
fiable business purpose. The minerity sharcholders are
given no prior notice of the merger, thus having o of-
portupity to apply for injunctive rcelief, and the pro-
posed price to he paid is substantially lower than the ap-
praised value reflected in the Tnformation Btetement.”
fd,, at 1201 ; aee id,, at 1289."

- We granted the petition for eertiorari challenging this hold-
ing hecause of the importance of the issue involved o the
administration of the federal securities'laws, 488 U, B, —
{1976). We reverse. ; ne FL

11

Beetion 10 (b) of the 1034 Aet makes it “unlawful for any

¢ The caurt caneluded ite disenssion thie:
 “Whether full disclosure has heon maite i= not the erucial ingniry snee it i
the merger and the wndervaluation wloch coustitured cftand, and no
whether or pot the majority detrrmines to lm’ bare their il motives. T
there is no valid purpose for the merger, then even the most” bragen
iselosure of that faet to the minority shareholders in no WHY il gty
the (roudulent conduct.” £, at 1202,

U The, Court of Ammlu uifiried, however, the dismieat.of the complzint
n= against Morgun Btanley & Co. Morgun Stanley, as the Count of
Appeals, undertood i, il not been. ohanged with perticipating in the
mujority shareholders’ breach of fiduciary duty; it hudd beep invobved only
i evaluntion of the stoek snd the compilotion of its report with reppect
thereto, The complant contained “oo allegations thar Morgan Stunler &
Co. enguged in sny wikrepreentation. or nondiselosire sueh as wonld ap-
port ita lehility to Rule 1065 (2)," fd,sd 1202

il
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persan |, , . to use or employ . ., any manipulative or deceptive
deviee or contrivanee in contravention of [SEC rules]”: Rule
10b--5, promulgated by the SEC under § 10 (b}, prohibits, in
addition to nondisclosure and misrepresentation, any “artifice
to defraud” or any act “which operates or would operate as a
fraud or deeceit,” ™ The ecourt below construed the term
“fraud” in Rule 10b-5 by adverting to the use of the term
in seversl of this Court's decisions in contexts other than the
1934 Act and the related Seeurities Act of 1933, 15 U, 8. C.
§ 77a et seq* The Court of Appeals’ epproach to the inter-
pretation of Rule 10b-5 is inconsistent with that taken by
the Court last Term in Ernst & Ernat v, Huchfe!der, 425 1. B,
185 (1976).

Ernst & Ernst makes clear that in deciding whether u com-
. plaint states a eause of action for “fraud” under Rule 10b-5,
“we turn first to the language of § 10 (b), for ‘[t]he starting
point in every ease involving construction of a statute is the
la,nguage itself.' "  Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U, 8.
185, 197 (1976), quuting Blue Chips Stamps v. Maemrr Drug

10 e . 1, supra. |

1 The Court, of Appeals quoted passuges from Pepper v. Ll'ttaﬂ 308 U, B,
205, 306-307, 311 (1939) (where this Court upheld the disallowanee of a
bankruptey elaim of a vontrolling stockholder who yiolated his fiduciary
obligstion to the other etoekholders), &nd from '} Story! Equity Juris
prudence § 187 {——) ;' the Court nlso cited cases which quoted the pamage
jrom Justice Btory's treatisp—Moore v, Crowford, 130 T, B, 122, 128
(1880) (& diversity mit to conipel execution of & deed held m constructive
trut), and SEC v, Capital Gains Research Bureosw, Ine., 375 U. 8. 180,
194 (1963} {Investment Advisers Aet of 1940 prohibite, as 8. 'fraud or
deceit upon any client,” o registered investment adviser's fuilure to diselose
to hig clients his own fivancial interest in his recommenditions). Although
Cmtﬂl (Fians involved a statute in the securities fiehd, the Court’s referoners
o fraud in the “equitable” sense of the term wery premisac on ite recogni-
tion that Congress intended the Investment Advieers Act to catabligh
federal fiduciary standsrds for investment advisers. See id., at 191-192,
'194. Moreover, the fraud that the SEC pought to enjoin in Copital Gaing
was, m faer, & nondisclosure,
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Stﬂres, 421 U, 8, 723, 756 (PoweL, J., concurring). In
‘helding that a cause of action under Rule 10b_5 does not lie
for mere neghgenue, the Court began with the principle that
“[a]soertainment of congressional intent with respeet to the
standard ‘of liability created by a particular section of the
[1933 and 1934} Acts must . . . rest primarily oo the Janguage
of that section,” 425 U. §., at 200-201, and then foeused on
the statutory language of § 10 (h)—"[t]1he words ‘manipula-
tive or deceptive’ used in conjunetion with ‘device or econtrive
snee. ” Jd.,'at 197. The same language and the same prinei-
ple apply to this case,

To the extent that the Court of Appeals would rely on the
use of the term “fraud” in Rule 10b-5 to bring within the
amnbit of the Rule all breaches of fidueiary duty in eonnection
with a securities transaction, its interpretation would, like the
interpretation rejected by the Court in Ernat & Ernst, “add a
gloss to the operative language of the atatute guite different
from: its commonly aecepted meaning.” Id, at 159, But as
the ‘Gourt there held, the language of the statute must. cons
trol the interpretation of the Rule:

“Rule 10b-3 was adopted pursuant to authority granted
the [Securities Exchange] Comimission under § 10 (b),
The rulemaking power granted to an administrative
ageney charged with the adminiztration of a federal stat-
ute is not the power to make law, Rather, it is ‘the
power to adopt regulations to carry into effect the will of
Congress as expressed by the statute.” ... [The scope of
the Rule] cannot exoeed the power granted the Commis-
aion by Congress under & 10 {b).” Id., at 212—214 { oita~
tions omitted),

14 The enst far adhering to the language of the statute is even stronger
here than n Krmet & Erisi, where the interpretation of Rule 10b-5
tejected by the Court wus strongly urged by the Commimion. Ser alio
Piper v, Chris-Craft Industries, Ing., 45 T, B. L. W. 4182 {1077}, and Bl
Ohip Stamps v. Manur Drug Storss, 421 U. B, 723 {1975} {rejecting
interpretations of Rule 10b-5 urged hy the SEC as amieus eurige). By

/
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The language of § 10 (b} gives no indication that Congress
meant to prohibit any econduct not involving manipulation or
deception, Nor have we been cited to any evidence in the
legislative history that would support a departure from the
language of the statute.” “When a statute speaks so specifi-

cally in terms of manipulation and deeeption, . . . and when
its history reflects no more expansive intent, we are quite un-
willing to extend. the scope of the statute . . ,." [d, at 2i4

{(footnote omitted). Thus the elaim of fraud and fiduciary
breach in this complaint states s cause of action under any
part of Rule 10b-5 only if the conduet alleged can be fairly
viewed as “manipulative or deceptive” within the meaning of
the statute.

I

- Tt is our judgment that the transaction if parried out as
alleged in the complaint, was neither deceptive nor manipu-
lative and theréfore did not violate ﬂxther §10 (b) of the
Act or Rule 10b-5,
As we have indicated, the case comes to us un the premise
-that 'the mmpla.mt failed to allege a material mmrapremnta—

tmn or material failure to disclose, The ﬁnﬂmg of the Dm- '

pontrast, the Commisdon apparently hes not coneluded that Rule 10b-5
~ should be ysed to reash “going private” trapsactions where the majority

stockholder eliininates the minority ut an allegedly unfair price, Hee SEC
Beewrities Act Belense No, 5587 (Feb, A, 1978}, CCH Federal Hecorities
I.aw Reparter 1 80,104 (proposing Rules 13e-8A and 1338 dealing with
"“going private” tropanetions, pursuant to gix sections af the 1034 Aect

inclnding § 10 {b), but stating that the Commisdon “hagz Yeached no con-

" eluzipns with respest to the proposed rules™), . T

¥ Ax tht Court noted in Mochfelder, “Neither ‘the intended scope of
§10(b) por the reacone for the chengee In ite operative language are
revealed explicitly in the legidntive history of the 1934 Aet, which deals
primarily with other sspecte of the legislation.” 425 U. 8, at 42, The
only epeeifie reference to § 10 in the Benute Report on the 1884 Act merely
stutes thar the section was “aimed &t those manipulative and dmepnw
practices: which have heen demonetrated to fulfil ne useful funetion,” B8,
Rop No:. 732, 73d Cong,, 2d Bess., 6 (1634),
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trict Court, undisturbed by the Court of Appeals was that . 2l
there was no “omission” or “misstatement” in(accompaiy- e o i
ing the notice of merger. On the basis of the information
provided, minority shareholders could either accept the price -/é‘“ﬁ”""'j
offered or reject it and seek an appraisal in the Delaware
Court of Chancery. Their choice was fairly presented, and
they were furnished with all relevant mformation on which to
base their decision*
We therefore find inapposite the cases relied upon by re-
spondents and the eourt below, in which the breaches of
fiduciary duty held violative of Rule 10b-5 included some ele-
ment of deception,’” Those cases forcefully refleet the prin-

14 In addition to their prineipal srgument that the complaint alleges o
fraud unnder elausss (a) and (¢) of Rule 10b=5, respondenis wleo argue
that the camplaint slleges nondisclosure and misrepresentation in_violation
of clause (b) of the Rule, Their major contention in this respect is that
the mujonity stockholder's failure to give the minonty advance notice of
the merger war & material nondiselosure, even though the Delaware short-
form metger statute does not require such notiee. Brief for Respondente,
at 2T. Rt respondents do not indieate how they might have deted
differently had they had prior notice of the merger, Indeed, they secent
the ronclusion of both courts below that under Delawnre law they couald
not have enjoined the merger because an appraiss] proceeding is thoir sole
remedy in the Delaware sourts for any alleged unfairness in the terme of
the merger. Thus the failure to give advance notice was not o material
nondizelp=ure within the meaning of the statute or the Rule. Cf TSC
Traiubiries, Ine, v. Northway, Inc, 428 U, 8. 438 (1878},

11 The decisions of thiv Court relied upon by respondents ull involved
deceptive conduct ss part of the Hule 10b-5 violation alleged. Affilinted
tfte Cittzens v, United States, 408 T B, 128 (1872) (misstatements of
materinl faot vsed by bank emplovees i position of market maker to
arquire stock at leas than fair value) ; Superinfendent of Insurance of New
York v. Bankery Life & Cosualty Co, 404 U. B 8, 8 (1871) (“seller of
bond: wes duped into believing that it, the seller, would receive the
procecds™).  Cf. 8BEC v, Copitel Gains Research Bureou, 375 U. 8. 180
(1963} (injunciion under Investment Advisers Act of 1040 to compel
registered investment advieer to disclose to hie cliente his own fnaneial
intereet in his recommendations).

‘Wea have been cited to & large number of cases in the Courts of Appeals,
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eiple that “[slection 10 (b) must be read flexibly, not tech-
nically and vestrietively” and that the statute provides a
eattse of aetlon for any plaintifi who “suffer{s] an injury as a
result of deceptive practices touching its sale [or purchase]
of mecuritics. , . " Superintendent of Insurance of New
Vork v. Bankers Life & Casualty Ceo., 404 U, B, 6, 12-13
“1971). But the eases do not support the propesition,
il of which invelved an element of deception as part of the fduciary
mizrondnet held to vialote Rule 10b=5. E. g., Schoenbaum v. Firstbrook,
405 ¥, 2d 215, 220 (CA2 1968) {en bauc), cert. demied, 3495 U B, B
{1489} (majority stoekholder and beard of directors “were guilty of
deevivieg™ the minority stockhalders); Dvarhman v, Horvey, 454 F, 2d
TIB, 747 (CA2 1872) (cu bane) (Hule 10b-5 wiolation alleged on fnets
found “imdistinguishable” by panel from Superinterdent of Inmrance v,
Rankers Life & Casualty Co,. supra); Schlick v. Penn-Dixie Cement Corp.,
07 F. 24 374 (CAZ 1874), cert. denied, 421 T, B, 976 {1873) (scheme of
market manipulation and merger on unfair terms, ope aspect of which was
miscepresentation) ; Poppes v, Mose, 303 F. 2d 565, 860 (CAZ 1968) [Mif
n fdeeeption’ is required m the present eontext [of §10 (b) and Rule
10Hi=5], it i= fairly found by viewing this fraud a: though the ‘independent’
stelrhnlders were stunding in the place of the defrauded corporat= entity,”
where the board of directers passed a resolution containing at lenst fwo
materia]l merepresentations ond nuthorizing the sale of eorporate stock to
the directors at 4 priee below fair market value) ; Shelf v, Hensfey, 430 F,
24 810, 825 (CA5 19700 (derivative suit slleging that corperute officers
weed misleading nroxy materials and other reports to deceive shareholders
regarding & bogus employment rontraet intended to conceal improper poy-
ment to the cotporation president and regurding purchaeez by the
corperation of eerlain rerurities ot exeessive pricse); Rekant v, Direser,
438 F, 2d B¥2, KR2 (CAS 1970) (4w part of scheme to couse carporation
to ieue treasury sheres und o promisrory mote for grosly inadeguate
ooneiderntion, porporate officers decvived shareholders by making affirme-
livn misroprésentations in the vorporation’s annnal report und by failing to
file ony sugh report the mext vear), ®ee Note, 5 Harv. L. Rev. 1817,
1620 (1978) (stating that vo appellute decision before that of CAZ2 in this
onee amil in Marshel v. AFW Fabric Corp., 533 F. 2d 1277, vacated and
remunded for o determaination of mooiness, 428 U, 8. — (1978}, "had
permitted & M0b-5 elsim without some elemont of mispepresentation or
nondisclosure”).
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adupted by the Court of Appeals below and urged by respond-
ents here, that a breach of fidueiary duty by majority stock-
holders, without any deeeption, misrepresentation, or non-
diselozure, violates the statute and the Rule,

It ¢ al=o readily apparent that the conduet alleged in the
coinplaint was not “manipulative” within the meaning of the
statute, Manipulation is “virtuglly a tevin of art when used
in epnnection with seeurities markets.” Ernst & Ernst, 425
U1, 8., at 199, The term refers generally to practices, such ns
wash sales, matched orders. or rigged prices, that are in-
tended to mislead investors by artificially affecting market
activity. See, e. p., 20 of the 1934 Act, 13 U, 8. CC, § 78 (1)
(prohibiting specific manipulative practices); Ernst & Ernst,
425 T, 8., at 195, 199 n, 21, 205; Piper v, Chris-Craft Indus-
trica, Ine,, 45 U 8, L, W. 4182, 4193 (1077) (Rule 10b-8, al=o
promulgated under ¥ 10 (b), is “an antimanipulative provi-
gion designed to protect the orderliness of the securities nav-
ket during distributions of stock” and “to prevent stunulative
trading by an issuer in its own securities in order, to create an
unnatural and unwarranted appearance of market activity”};
2 A. Bromberg, Securities Law: I'raud § 7.3 (1975); 2 L. Loss,
Seeurities Regilation 1541-70 (1061); 6, id,, at 37553763
(1469), Section 10 (b)’s general prohibition of practices
deemerd by the SEC to be “manipulative”—in this technical
sense of artificially affecting market activity in brder to mis-
lead investors—is fully consistent with the fundamental pur-
poge of the 1034 Act ““to substitute a philosophy of full diselo-
sure for the philosophy of careat emptor, . .." Affilinted Ut4
Citizens v. United States, 408 U, 8, 128, 151 (1972), guot'ng
SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 376 U, 8, 180,
156 (1963). Indeed, nondisclosure is usually au essential ele-
mant in a manipulative scheme, 8 L, Loss, supra, at 1565.
No doubt Congress meant to prohibit the full range of in-
genious devices that might be used to manipulate securities
prices, But we do not think it would have ehosen this "term
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of art” if it had meant to bring within the scope of § 10 (b)
instances of coporate mismansgement such as this, in which
the essence of the complaint is that shareholders were treated
unfairly by a fidueiary,

v

The language of the statute is, we think, “sufficiently clear
in its context"” to be dispositive here, Frnst & Ernat, 425 U. 8.,
at 201; but even if it were not, there are additional eonsider-
ations that weigh heavily against permitting a cause of action
under Rule 10b-5 for the breach of corporate fiduciary duty
alleged in this complaint. Congress did not expressly pro-
vide a private cause of action for violations of § 10 (b).
Although we have recognized an implied cause of action un-
der that section in some eireumstances, Superintendent of
Insurance of New York v. Bankers Life and Casualty Co.,
supra, at 13 n. 9 (1971), we have also recognized that a
private cause of action under the antifraud provisions of the
mecurities Exchange Aet should not be implied where it 18
“unneceasary to ensure the fulfillment of Congress' purposes”
in adopting the Aet. Piper v. Chris-Craft Industries, 45
U. B L W. at 4183 Cf J. I. Case Co. v. Borak, 377 U, 8.
426, 431-433 (1064), As we noted earlier, p. —-, supra, the
Court repeatedly has described the “fundamental purpose”
of the Act as impleimenting a “philosopy of full diselosure”;
onee full and fair disclosure hag oceurred, the fairness of the
terms of the transaction is at most a tangential coneern of the
atatute, Cf, Mills v, Electric Auto-Lite Co,, 806 U, B, 875,
A81-385 (1970}, As in Corl v. Ash, 422 U, 5, 78, 80 (1875),
we are reluctant to imply a private cause of action to serve
what is “at best a subsidiary purpose” of the federal
legislation, '

An important element of the inquiry into the necessity for
implying & private eause of action ig “whether ‘the cause of
action [igl one traditionally relegated to state law, . . "
Piper v. Chris-Craft Industries, Inc., 45 U, 8. L. W, at 4162,
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guoting Cort v, Ash, 422 U. B, at 78. The Delaware Legisla-
ture has supplied minority shareholders with a cause of action
in the Delaware Court of Chancery to recover the fair value
of shares allegedly undervalued m a short-form merger. Beo
A —". 3, supra. (f course, the existence of a particular state law
- remnedy is not dispositive of the question whether Congress
meant to provide a federal remedy, but as in Piper and Cort.
we conelude that “it is entirely appropriate i this instance to
relegate respondent and others in his sitvation to whatever
retuecy is created by state law,” 422 U7, 8, at 84;: 45 [T, &,

L. W.. at 4193,

The reazoning behind a holding that the complaint in this
case alleged fraud under Rule 10b-5 could not be easily con-
tained, It is difficult to imagine how a court could dis-
tinguish. for purposes of Rule 10b-3 fraud, between a majority
stockholder's use of a short-form merger to eliminate the
minority at an unfair price and the use of some pther deviee,
sich a8 a long-form merger, tender offer, or liquidation, to
achieve the same result; or indeed how a court couldl dis-
tingnish the abuses involved in these going private transae-
tions from ofher types of fiduciary self-dealing involving
transactions in securities. The result would be to bring
within the Rule a wide variety of eorporate conduct tradi-
tionally left to state regulation. In additign_to posing a
“danger of vexatious litigation which could result from «
widely expanded eclass of plaintiffe under Rule 10b-5" Blue
Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U, 8, 723, 740 (1975),
this extension of the federal securities laws would overlap
and quite posaibly interfere with state corporate law. Federal
courts applying a ‘'federal fidueiary prineiple” under Rule
10b-5 could be expected to depart from state fiduciary stand-
arde at least to the extent necessary to ensure uniformity
within the federal system.'" Ahsent a clear indication of con-

i For example, some Stafes apparently require o “valid corporate pur-
pose’” for the elimination of the minority interest though short-form

1
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gressional intent, we are reluctant to federalize the substan-
tial portion of the law of corporations that deals with transae-
tiona in gecurities, particularly where established state policies
of corporate regulation would be overridden. As the Court
stated in Cort v. Ash, supra, “Corporations are creatures of
state law, and investors commit their funds to corporate di-
rectors on the understanding that, except where federal law
erpressly requires certain responsibilities of directors with
respect to stockholders, state law will govern the internal af-
fairs of the corporation.” 422 U. 8., at 84 (emphasis added).

We thus adhere to the position that "Congress by § 10 (b)
did not seek to regulate transactions which constitute no more
than internal corporate mismanagement.” Superintendent of
Insurance of New York v, Bankers Life & Casualty Co., 404
U. 8, at 12, There may well be g need for uniform federal
fidueiary standards to govern mergers such as that challenged
in this complaint. But those standards should not be sup-
plied by judicial extension of § 10 (b) and Rule 10b-3 to
“eover the corporate universe,” V¥

merger, wheress other States do not, Compare Srygan v, Broek & Slewis
g, 400 F, 2d 563 (CAS), cert. denied, 419 U, B, 544 (1574) (merger
arrangsd By controlling stockholder for no “business purpose” except te
eliminate 153% minority stockholder vialated Georgin #hort-form merger
statute] with Stouffer v. Siandard Bronds, fne,, 41 Del. Ch. 7, 187 A, 2d T8
{Bup, Ct. 1882) (Delaware short-form merger statute allows majority
stockholder to eliminate the minonty interest without any corpurate pur-
poee and subjest only to nn apprazal remedy). Thuos to the extent that
Rule 10b-6 w interpreted to recuire & valid corporate purpose for elimine-
tion of minority shureholders se well ag o fair price for their shares, it would
impesg @ stricter standand of fiduciary duty than that required by the law
of =ome States,

17 Cary, Federalsm and Corporate Law: Refleetions Upen Delaware,
83 Yale L, J, 663, 700 [1974) (footnote omitted), Professor Cary urgues
vigorously for eomprehensive feders! fidueinry standards, but urges a
“fromtal” attack by o new federal stitute rather than an extension of Rule
10b—3. He writes, “It seems anomalons to jig=cw every kind of eorporate
dispnte into the feders]l courta through the securities acts as they ape
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The judgment of the Court of Appeals is reversed and the
cage is remanded for further proceedings congistent with this
gpinion,

So ordered,

presently written.”  Ihid,  Bee alio Note, Going Privite, 54 Yale L. J. 03
{1974] (proposing the sapplication of teaditiona] doetrines of substintive
porpotate law to problems of fairness reised by “going private” transsction
sueh gs short-form mergers).
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MR. JUSTICE STEVENS, concurring in part.

For the reasons stated by Mr, Justice Blackmun in

his dissenting opinion in Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug
1/
Stores, 421 U.8. 723, 761, and those stated in my

dissent in Piper v. Chris-Craft Industries, 45 U.S.L.W.

4182, 4196 (U.S. Feb. 23, 1977), I believe both of those
cases were incorrectly decided. I foresee some danger that
Part IV of the Court's opinion in this case may incorrectly
be read as extending the holdings of those cases. Moreover,
the entire discussion in Part IV is unnecessary to the
decision of this case. Accordingly, I join only Parts I,

II, and III of the Court's opinion. I would also add

further emphasis to the fact that the controlling stockholders
in this case did not breach any duty owed to the minority
shareholders because (a) there was complete disclosure of the
relevant facts, and (b} the minority are entitled to receive
the fair value of their ahares.zf The facts alleged in the

complaint do not constitute "fraud" within the meaning of

Fule 10b-5.

See alsoc Eason v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 4850
F.2d 564 (ca7 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 960.

2/ The motivation for the merger is a matter of indifference
to the minority stockholders because they retain no interest
in the corporation after the merger is consummated.
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Dear Byron:

Although I voted the other way at Conference, I am
very close to joining your opinion. I am concerned, however,
that Part IV of the oplnion could be read to say that the SEC
has no authority under existing law to deal with the kind of
practices alleged in the complaint. Since at least one of the
provisions on which the SEC's proposed rules are based,

§ 13{e), appears to be broader than § 10{b), I do not think

we should express a view on the extent of the SEC's power.
Could you see your way clear to amending footnote 12 so that

it explicitly reserves the question of the Commission's authority
to regulate "going private' under provisions other than § 10(b)?

Sincerely,

Mr., Justice White

ce: The Conference
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Sincerely,
Mr. Justice White

Copies to the Conference



—

Supreme Qonrt of the Hnited States
Waehington, B, . 205%3

CHAMBERD OF

JUSTICE Ww, J, BRENNAN. JR. March 16, 1977 /

RE: No. 75-1753 Santa Fe Industries v. Green

Dear Byron:

Would you please add the following at the foot of

your opinion:

"Mr. Justice Brennan dissents and would
affirm for substantially the reasons stated
in the majority and concurring opinions in
the Court of Appeals, 533 F. 2d 1283 (1976)."

Sincerely,

Mr, Justice White

cc: The Conference
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